1953

Irene Paul and Charles J. Paul v. Woodrow Lawrence Kirkendall : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a suit for damages for personal injuries to Irene Paul and loss of society and companionship to Charles J. Paul, her husband, arising out of an accident which occurred on April 29, 1951 in the City of San Fernando, California. The collision occurred between the automobile driven by Woodrow Lawrence Kirkendall and the automobile driven by Charles J. Paul, in which Irene Paul was a passenger. At the time of the collision Charles J. Paul was driving his car and Irene Paul was sitting in the middle of the front seat holding in her lap her baby and her oldest boy was sitting at her right, all four being in the front seat. Nothing is claimed in this suit for personal injuries to any person excepting Irene Paul. No aggravation arising out of physical ailments

of which Irene Paul suffered at the time of the accident is claimed in the Complaint. The defendant Woodrow Lawrence Kirkendall admitted liability for the accident, contested, however, the issue of the nature and extent of the damages. The sole issue in the case was the extent and nature of the damages. The Jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant in the sum of Twenty Thousand (\$20,000.00) Dollars, fixing the damages as follows:

General damages to Irene Paul \$11,800.00

Special damages to Irene Paul and Charles J. Paul \$3,000.00

Damage to the automobile of Charles J. Paul \$200.00

Damages to Charles J. Paul from loss of his wife's services \$5,000.00

Motion for a new trial was denied and this appeal is taken up on the sole question as to whether the damages are excessive. Points relied on by appellant, the appellant contends:

1. That the general damages awarded to Irene Paul are excessive.
2. That the special damages of \$3,000.00 are excessive.
3. That the award of \$5,000.00 to Charles J. Paul for loss of service of his wife is excessive.

POINT ONE

Mrs. Paul testified on cross-examination and gave the following medical history: That she had her tonsils out when she was about 13. That she had an operation

in 1938 for a uterine suspension; that during the period from 1941 to 1951 she had recurrent infections or inflammation of the kidneys and bladder; that she had virus pneumonia and that she had sinus trouble and prior to the accident had a nasal drip and discharge over a period of years; that she had had five miscarriages, starting from the time she was eighteen years of age; that her bladder and kidney condition gave her a pain in the back and severe pain; that immediately prior to the accident she had gone to a hospital in Glendale for the purpose of having an x-ray of her back made. At that time she was experiencing difficulty with her back. (Transcript Pgs. 27-32). Also, that on the 11th of May, 1951, after the accident she consulted a Dr. Herman about her bladder condition as she had awakened that morning with pain in the bladder region and some pain in urinating; that before the accident she had swollen ankles and nervousness and a tingling sensation in her right leg; that she complained of the pain in her right leg after the accident; that she was a very nervous person and prior to the accident had experienced on awakening in the morning, swollen ankles and a bad sinus condition and her ankles had swollen at various times and the pain made her nervous and that she experienced pain with swollen ankles and swollen eyes prior to the accident and that she had permanent backache from pregnancy and her kidneys; that Dr. Herman gave her medication for a period of five or six weeks; that this medication relieved the pain. (Transcript 35-38). She also testified that prior to May 11, 1952, which was after the accident, she consulted one Dr. Crosley about her kidney condition, from which she had experienced pain some time before and that she called on

Dr. Crosley about bladder and kidney condition; that she saw him on the 21st day of May, 1951 and again sometime in June, 1951 and that from the time of the accident up to those days, she had not consulted Dr. Crosley, who was her family physician. That prior to the accident, following pregnancy she had consulted Dr. Crosley about tenderness and pain in her sacroiliac region where the rib joins the spine, and that she likewise consulted him for circulation trouble; and that following the birth of her last child she was tired all the time and had aches and pains and nervousness in her legs and arms and that she took certain treatments in a sanatorium, consisting of steam baths and massage and that she complained of swollen ankles and swollen hands in the morning and tightness in the chest and dizzy spells; that her baby was born in September, 1950; that this was her second son. (Transcript 38-42). That she also saw a Dr. Peterson in May of 1951 and did not see him again until September, 1951 when he gave her a rectal examination. The Dr. Peterson told her she had a coccyxgodynia infection; that she went to a neurosurgeon, being sent there by Dr. Graham to ascertain whether she had a herniated disc, or a disc injury and that he told her there was no indication of an injury to the disc and advised therapy and rest but she went to a Dr. Risser in the latter part of October and he gave her the same advice. The name of the Neurosurgeon was Dr. Eder and Dr. Graham sent her to him with a recommendation that he, Dr. Eder, was the best. (Transcript 44-47)

That she then discussed an operation with Dr. Graham and he recommended an operation on her spine

and they had an x-ray made to determine whether there was a pelvic fracture and the x-ray showed negative; that no doctor ever told her that she had a fracture of any type in the pelvis or the spine or anywhere else in her body before she submitted to an operation on November 7, 1951; that she had been involved in another accident after the operation on November 7, 1951 which aggravated a back condition for which she was fully compensated; that she was told by her own doctor that all the symptoms which she had would clear up within a period of a month or two months. (Transcript 47-52). That a certain type of shoes was prescribed for her to correct her posture; that immediately after the accident she was feeling pain in both her ankles and her left hip; that she went to a Doctor Jones, who gave her a complete examination, testing her reflexes, bending over, rotating from left to right. He examined her eyes, pressed her back, made her lie on her back and raise her legs, and asked her about the accident and her past medical history and the circumstances of the accident and the treatments she had received. That no one treated her for back symptoms between June and September, 1951; that she complained to Dr. Jones of a pain in her hip, she did not complain in bending over and coming within a couple of inches of the floor. (Transcript 52-61)

That in her deposition taken on September 27, before the trial, she testified that she had never had any trouble with her back before the accident and that she had never had any trouble with her ankles and legs before the accident. (Transcript 62)

Dr. Frank Arthur Pedersen testified that on the 29th day of April, 1951 he was in a San Fernando hospital and he was called to see Mrs. Paul and she had been in an automobile accident and he saw her for the first time as a patient in the hospital that evening and that he found her in extreme pain in her body and her ankles and he had x-rays taken and that evening he had to catheterize Mrs. Paul because of tenderness of her bladder and her cocyx, which is the tiny bone at the end of her tail bone, was tender, and that he could not tell whether that tenderness was caused by the accident of April 29, 1951 or subsequently when he observed it in September, 1951. That he gave therapy treatment; that she was in a state of emotional shock; that she was in the hospital two or three days and he prescribed corrective shoes and that she had swelling of the ankles; that he last saw her on May 7, 1951 at his office, prior to her visit to his office in September, 1951; that he made no note of any previous history; that he had certain x-rays taken and the x-ray film showed negative for fracture; that when she visited him on September 11, 1951 he dictated and signed a report of her condition in which the following appeared "the spine injury was considered but was not borne out by x-rays and the condition improved spontaneously" that he also made the notation that she was discharged home in two days markedly improved; that he saw her on three subsequent occasions after she left the hospital, in the month of May. That on the 7th day of May he made an entry "range of motion of spine and pelvis is good"; that he put her through various bending tests and tipping tests to find out the range of motion; that she returned on

September 4, 1951 to his office; that she asked him for a letter stating the extent of damage and he wrote this letter September 11, 1951 and he did not in that letter state that there was any pain complained of in the immediate area of the lumbo sacro joint; the letter is shown on Page 92 and 93 of the Transcript and reads as follows: (Transcript 77-92)

“To Whom it May Concern:

Mrs. Irene Paul, 652 Orange Grove, San Fernando, has been under the care of this office since April 29, 1951, when she was involved in an auto accident. She was hospitalized at the San Fernando Hospital, at that time, as an emergency because of severe low back pain and swelling and pain of both ankles most marked in left ankle. X-rays were negative for fractures. She was discharged home in two days markedly improved, after taping and injecting left ankle. Mrs. Paul was seen on three subsequent visits (May 2, 5, 7, 1951) and showed gradual improvement to diathermy and tolserol.”

The second letter shown on Pages 93 and 94 of the Transcript reads as follows:

“To Whom it May Concern:

Mrs. Irene Paul of 652 Orange Grove, San Fernando, has been under the care of this office since April 29, 1951, when she was involved in an automobile accident. She was hospitalized at the San Fernando Hospital at that time as an emergency because of severe low back pain and swelling and pain of both ankles, most marked in the left ankle. X-rays, AP and lateral views of the lumbar spine, AP view of the pelvis, and AP and lateral views of the ankles were negative for fracture.

On the night of the accident the patient was unable to empty her bladder causing acute pain and severe mental distress. Catheterization was necessary. A spine injury was considered but was not borne out by X-rays and the condition improved spontaneously. She was discharged home in two days markedly improved, after taping and injecting left ankle. Mrs. Paul was seen on three subsequent visits (May 2, 5, 7, 1951) and showed gradual improvement to diathermy and tolserol. Mrs. Paul was not seen again until September 5, 1951, at which time she was still having pain and swelling in both ankles and her left hip still 'catches'. She has had no further trouble with her bladder.

Physical examination revealed very excellent range of motion of both legs, hips and spine. There were definite bursal swellings below the lateral malleoli of both ankles and the lateral ligaments of both ankles were completely disrupted and painful. Physical examination also revealed a marked coccydynia. Her arches were noted to be very poor and her foot and spine alignment was very bad. Corrective shoes were advised and - - - - -."

Dr. Pedersen also testified with reference to his notes; that his record did not show that Mrs. Paul complained of any pain in the immediate area of the lumbosacral joint, but he found pain the coccyx at the end of the spine. That he advised corrective shoes on account of poor arches and weak ankles. That Dr. Rhymes read the X-rays and found no pathology in the pelvis; that he made a note under date of September 4, 1951 "having tremendous domestic difficulties"; that that was his observation of her at the time. That he considered the

possibility of a psychosomatic syndrome or functional overlay in her case; that when she was released from the hospital two days after she entered her condition was markedly improved. (Transcript 85-102)

Dr. Willard Crosley testified that he first met Mrs. Paul February 28, 1950. At that time she registered as an obstetrical patient; that Mrs. Paul made a visit to his office on August 20, 1951 and was seen by Dr. Tarr, who reported that she had terrible pains and throbbing in her legs when she awakened in the morning and seemed exhausted all the time; that she had a slight discharge and that her right ovary was found to be three to four centimeters enlarged; that there was no evidence of a bone fracture in the report made to him from an X-ray he had taken on April 19, 1951. There is a notation in his record under date of March 1, 1950, tenderness in the left sacroiliac and left vertebral area; that the records at his office showed that Mrs. Paul had multiple pelvic adhesions to the ovaries and tubes from miscarriages; that on October 12, 1950 she made a phone call complaining of circulation trouble, hands go to sleep, right leg feels like ice cubes. Hot steam baths and massage were prescribed; that on September 19, 1950 she felt miserable, ghastly tired all the time; aches, pains and numbness in extremities; hands swollen in the morning, ankles swollen in the afternoon, considerable sinus trouble. Much high back ache, very tight uncomfortable sensations throughout chest when tired, dizzy spells; that the records in his office show that on August 20, 1951, feeling pretty rough, many nervous strains; hands and eyes swelled up. Pains and throbbing in her legs when she awakens in the morning; exhausted

all the time; that there was pretty much the same medical picture on September 19, 1950 as he had on August 20, 1951. (Transcript 192-205) Further examination was made by his office; that his records show as follows: "Discharged in good pelvic condition, but with considerable psycho-somatic overlay" which means nervousness; that in medicine the word psycho-somatic means generally an exaggeration by a person of symptoms as they are related to or told to a doctor or any other person. (Transcript 207-208)

Doctor Homer A. Graham, who performed an operation on Mrs. Paul, for a fractured facet, who claimed an injury to the lumbo-sacral joint, gives this answer on Page 227 of the transcript: "Q. Now, Doctor, based on the opinion that you have obtained from other medical experts, the history that you obtained from the patient as you have given it to us and what the X-rays actually showed, do you have any opinions as to whether or not there was a fracture of the facets of that part of the spine of Mrs. Paul?

A. I don't know. I have no proof. I was never able to prove it." This was the doctor who performed the fusion operation, fusing the facets in the lower lumbar region of the spine for which a fee of \$1,000.00 was charged.

"I consulted with Dr. Joseph C. Risser, also Joseph F. Barr from Boston, also Elbert C. Ferguson from Brookline, Massachusetts for interpretation of X-rays. Also X-ray specialist, Dr. Ferguson was uncertain. I can only state that it is my opinion that the appearance to which attention has been directed at the lumbro sacro

facets is due to development irregularity and overlays, shadows, rather than to fracture. Doctor Eder stated that the patient exhibited no evidence of herniated lumbar disk (Transcript 221-223), or any other neuro-surgical condition. I have no proof. I was never able to prove that there was a fracture of the facets of that part of the spine of Mrs. Paul. (Transcript 227)

I performed a spinal fusion between the last lumbar facet of the low back and the first and second sacral vertebra of the sacrum. The purpose was to eliminate the joint. I did not find an injured vertebra. I couldn't demonstrate any definite evidence of injury in surgery. (Transcript 233).

On Dr. Risser's report he did not recommend surgery. (Transcript 240).

"I did not determine surgery was necessary up to the day of surgery. (Transcript 240)

"I took into consideration Dr. Risser's report that there was a severe lumbar lordosis, and clinically there is a severe round back which militates against a good postural correction. (Transcript 244).

In Doctor Barr's report he suggested that there might be a congenital abnormality (of the spine) (Transcript 245)

In Doctor Kennedy's report and Doctor Hamilton's report, in their opinion the X-rays were normal with no evidence of fracture and they found no bony pathology or injury in the coccyx. (Transcript 246)

It was after surgery that I wrote to Dr. Barr and to Dr. Ferguson. On January 14, 1952 I got a letter from him and he stated he did not think there was any fracture. In fact he said he thought it was due to developmental irregularities and overlaps shadows. (Transcript 247-248)

He said it was worth noting that there is a rather large over development of the right first cervical facet laterally which is definitely developmental. (Transcript 249)

I took into consideration that there were certain psycho-somatic overlays in this case, which means the influence of the mind over the body and the pendency of litigation sometimes has an effect upon that situation. (Transcript 249)

I satisfied myself there was no herniated disc. The syndrome which she gave me of referred pains down the leg didn't fit any medical pattern. (Trancript 250)

In my operative record I stated that no definite fracture could be visualized in either articulation. There was some deformity about the facet on the left side suggesting an old healed fracture. (Trans. 258)

In Dr. Risser's record, or letter, dated October 25, he stated "There is a severe lumbar lordosis and clinically there is a severe round back which militates against a good postural correction. Probably one of the most important facts which I observed was the distribution of muscle spasm and the tenderness in the trapezius muscle in the left gluteal area and in the lumbo-sacral area and along the left side of the coccyx. I feel that

these facts must be explained on a systemic basis, and therefore I suggested to the patient that she get a gastric analysis. I am referring her back to you for that particular test."

It was agreed that the word systemic means something not connected with trauma, as used in Dr. Risser's report. (Trans. 267)

"I consider that the operation I performed was the proper treatment for Mr. Paul but I do not think it was absolutely necessary". (Trans. 270)

A chronic sinusitis could make a nervous person more nervous and could cause pretty severe headaches, and a chronic cystitis could make a person more nervous and if these conditions existed over a period of time you would have a plenty nervous person. (Trans. 272-273)

Doctor Charles M. Swindler testified in part, as follows: "I made an examination of Mrs. Paul and my findings are as follows: "The back, on standing, the patient had a mild scoliosis, a curvature of the spine; the motion of the spine with respect to the pelvis and lumbo-sacral joint, that is, she had normal or full forward motion of 90 degrees. She has some pain at 80 degrees, but no muscle spasm. She had full backward or extension motion of 35 degrees with no muscle spasm and no pain. She had full bend to the right of 45 degrees with not muscle spasm or pain and she had equal and full motion to the left with 45 degrees with no muscle spasm or pain. In the bent-over position the patient did not appear to have pain when assuming the straight or upright position. There is a recent midline surgical

scar over the low part of the back. There is some tenderness over the coccyx or tail bone, and just to the left of the midline at the level of the iliac crest. The normal lumbar lordosis was somewhat flat. The muscle power of the muscles of the spine would be graded as fair. Equally the muscles in the abdomen, in power, could be graded only as fair. The leg lengths are equal. The straight leg raising on the right was 105 and on the left was 95.

Q. How does that compare with normalcy?

A. The normal straight leg raising with this person's age would be 90 degrees.

Q. All right.

A. However, the patient volunteered she had a recent operation on her spine which would account for the disparity in my opinion. The motion in the hip joints in all six planes was equal bilaterally and normal. There was no spasm and no apparent tenderness with motion of the hip joints. There was no atrophy of either leg, either above or below the knee joint. There was no atrophy of the muscles of the buttocks.

The Court: I think you had better explain that word "atrophy".

A. A drying up or shriveling as seen with children in infantile paralysis. There was no sensory loss, no loss of sensation in either of the lower extremities when examined, as with ordinary person. The reflexes on both sides were equal in response and physiological in quantity.

Q. Now, what do you mean by "physiological"?

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