1953

Irene Paul and Charles J. Paul v. Woodrow Lawrence Kirkendall : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Point 1. The points relied on and argued by the Appellant, to-wit; (1) That the general damages awarded to Irene Paul are excessive and (2) that the award of \$5,000 to Charles J. Paul for loss of services of his wife is excessive, are insufficient in law to justify any relief to the Appellant, as no claim is made that they have been given under the influence of passion or prejudice.

The Appellant argues only two points in his brief. First, "that the general damages awarded to Irene Paul are excessive," and second "that the award of \$5,000 to Charles J. Paul for loss of services of his wife is excessive." See Appellant's brief, Pages 2 and 31. It is true that on page 2 of the brief under the heading Statement of Points, it is stated that the special damages of \$3,000 are excessive. However, the only argument on this point is on Page 31 under the heading of Point 2 where it is said "with respect to the special damages awarded, these also seem excessive. It is true that Mrs. Paul received care in her home and while she had a nurse, most of the care given to her was by her own relatives or the relatives of Mr. Paul." The Appellant then lists some of the items of special damage but eliminates entirely the doctors' fees, the hospital bills and the medical bills, although there was ample evidence, and he does not contend that there was not ample evi-

dence, to support this. In fact substantially all of the special damages were stipulated and they totaled more than \$3,500, of which the jury only awarded \$3,000.

Obviously this point and the argument devoted to it are insufficient to require the court to search the record to demonstrate an absence of evidence which he does not even bother to assert, and it is apparent that this point could not have been made in good faith for the purpose of being relied upon. The case of

Keller vs. Wixom,
----- Utah -----
255 Pac. 2nd 118,

decided by this court on March 31st of this year seems to be in point here.

In any event Appellant does not, either in his statement of points or in his argument claim that the damages appear "to have been given under the influence of passion or prejudice." The granting of a new trial is, of course, a procedural matter and must be governed by Utah's Rules of Civil Procedure. The Appellant does refer, in passing, to the fact that some of the nursing services included were rendered by relatives of Mr. and Mrs. Paul. The pecuniary obligation to pay these relatives was supported by direct and positive evidence. It is wholly immaterial that some of the nursing care was rendered by relatives of the Respondents. It was so held by the California Court in

Kimball vs. Northern Electric Company,

112 Pac. 153.

Rule 59(a) (5) deals with the granting of a new trial upon the ground of excessive damages and says that the Trial Court *may* grant a new trial for “excessive or inadequate damages, appearing to have been given under the influence of passion or prejudice.” The Rule does not authorize a new trial merely because the court itself deems the damages excessive, but in addition to the excessiveness of the damages it must be made to appear that they “have been given under the influence of passion or prejudice.” Our Rule, as the Court knows, is taken from our previous statute, Section 104-40-7, Utah Code Annotated, 1943. It is firmly established under this statute and the rule which is taken from it that the granting of a new trial or the requiring of a remission of part of the damages awarded by a jury is proper only where the jury is *clearly* shown to have totally mistaken or disregarded rules of law for regulation of damages or wholly misconceived or disregarded all evidence and thereby committed gross and palpable error by rendering a verdict so enormous, outrageous or unjust as to be attributable to neither the court’s instructions nor the evidence, but only to the jury’s passion or prejudice.

Moreover, it is equally well established that mere excessiveness of the jury’s verdict does not necessarily show that it was arrived at by passion or prejudice, as

is required to authorize the Supreme Court to overrule the Trial Court's discretion as to the granting of a new trial or in the alternative the remission of damages, and the mere fact that the jury awarded more damages than another or the court might have given or more than the evidence justified, does not conclusively show that the verdict was the result of the jury's passion or prejudice as is required to authorize the court to intervene and take from the jury its constitutional function as the trier of the facts in a law case such as this. It is also established that the jury has great latitude in assessing damages for personal injuries unless the excessiveness of the verdict can be determined as a matter of law, which is not the case here. Before the court can intervene in a matter of damages, the verdict must be so excessive as to shock one's conscience and *clearly* indicate passion, prejudice or caprice of the jury as a matter of law. As above noted, mere excessiveness of the verdict without more does not necessarily show such passion or prejudice.

The above principles are firmly established in this jurisdiction by the following decisions of this court:

Saltas vs. Affleck,
99 Utah 381,
105 Pac. 2nd 176;

Walkenhorst vs. Kesler,
92 Utah 312,
67 Pac. 2nd 654;

Pauly vs. McCarthy,
109 Utah 431,
184 Pac. 2nd 123

and

Duffy vs. Union Pacific Railroad Company,
..... Utah
218 Pac. 2nd 1080.

This rule necessarily follows from the provisions of Section 9, Article VIII of the Constitution of Utah, which provides that in cases at law the appeal to this court shall be on questions of law alone so that this court cannot interfere unless the error of the jury is made to appear as a matter of law. See

Whittaker vs. Ferguson,
16 Utah 240,
51 Pac. 980.

In the case now at bar *the Appellant makes no contention that the verdict of the jury resulted from its passion or prejudice* and indeed there is nothing in the record to indicate such passion or prejudice directed against the Appellant. If there is anything in the record in this regard, it would be the failure of the jury to find the full amount of the special damages in excess of \$3,500 after it was stipulated that all of the charges for medical, surgical, hospital and nursing services had been incurred and that the charges were reasonable, and this prejudice, if any, was directed against the Respondents', not the Appellant's, case.

Moreover, the Appellant here *makes no claim whatsoever in his brief that the verdict is so excessive, as to shock one's conscience and to clearly indicate passion, prejudice or caprice* so that passion and prejudice could be inferred as a matter of law, if indeed passion and prejudice can ever be inferred as a matter of law. The Appellant merely states plaintively that he now finds the burden of his admitted fault to be excessive and requests the court to relieve him of it. This under the Constitution, the Rules of Procedure and the decisions of this court, the court cannot and should not do. Even if all the assertions and claims made by Appellant in his brief were taken as true (as they are not), still it would not justify this court in ordering a new trial or forcing the Respondents to remit any part of the damages. Appellant's contentions fail as a matter of law and this alone should determine this case so that the court would not be burdened with consideration of the other points involved.

Point 2. On this appeal the judgment of the Trial Court is presumed correct, the burden of affirmatively showing error is on Appellant, the evidence and the inferences therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the Respondents, and the ruling on the motion for new trial was largely within the trial court's sound discretion which will not lightly be disturbed.

The decisions of this court have long since settled beyond any peradventure of a doubt that there is a presumption that the judgment of the Trial Court was correct and that every reasonable intendment must be

indulged in favor of it, and that the burden of affirmatively showing error is on the Appellant.

Palfreyman vs. Bates & Rogers
Construction Company,
108 Utah 142, 158 Pac. 2nd 132, 133

(Syllabus No. 2) and cases there cited.
Moreover, on appeal from a judgment on a verdict in the plaintiffs' favor the plaintiffs are entitled to have this court consider all of the evidence and every inference and intendment fairly arising therefrom in the light most favorable to them.

Toomer's Estate vs. Union Pacific
Railroad Company,
----- Utah -----
239 Pac. 2nd 163,

and

McLaughlin vs. Chief Consolidated
Mining Company,
62 Utah 532,
220 Pac. 726.

Moreover, the question of whether a new trial should be granted on the ground of an excessive award of damages under the influence of passion or prejudice rests largely within the Trial Court's sound discretion and the Supreme Court is reluctant and slow to interfere with the Trial Court's exercise of that discretion in refusing a new trial on questions relating to damages.
See

Case No. 7957

IRENE PAUL, et al., Respondents vs. WOODROW
LAWRENCE KIRKENDALL, Appellant

ADDITION TO RESPONDENTS' BRIEF FOR BENEFIT
OF RESPONDENTS IRENE PAUL AND CHARLES J. PAUL.

Immediately following the citations on
Page 27 insert the following:

See also:

Geary vs. Cain
69 Utah 340
255 Pac. 416,

commenting that the trial court is in a much
better position than the appellate court to
observe and determine whether a jury was
actuated by passion or prejudice.

The recent and as yet unpublished decisions
of this court in

Wheat vs. The Denver and
Rio Grande Western Railroad Co.
No. 7838

and

Lodder vs. Western Pacific
Railroad Company, No. 7809,

further emphasize that the judgment of the
trial court in cases such as this should be
followed.

Mitchel vs. Arrowhead Freight Lines,
..... Utah
214 Pac. 2nd 620;

Duffy vs. Union Pacific
Railroad Company, *supra*

and

Saltas vs. Affleck, *supra*.

These well established principles should be equally determinative of the question here and determinative in Rspondents' favor. The Appellant in his brief *nowhere contends that the Trial Court in this case abused its discretion in denying his motion for a new trial on the ground of excessive damages*. He merely reiterates that the damages are excessive and it is submitted the assertion gains no force from the reiteration. As we will attempt hereafter to demonstrate, there is ample evidence to justify the size of the verdict and to support the Trial Court's exercise of his discretion. In fact, we are again impressed with the fact that this is a strange case in which the Appellant admits that he is at fault and that the Respondents suffered damages and then, when the jury assesses the amount, he asks for a reversal of the Trial Court's order affirming the verdict *without even claiming that the Trial Court in so doing abused the discretion with which he was vested*. If any presumption whatever is indulged in favor of the Trial Court's ruling, it must in this case be affirmed.

Point 3. The damages awarded Irene Paul are not excessive nor do they appear to have been given under the influence of passion or prejudice.

After reviewing the facts in this case it would seem that little argument need be devoted to the proposition that the amount of the award of general damages to Mrs. Paul was definitely not excessive either as a matter of fact or of law, but that on the contrary, if anything, it was inadequate. There is ample evidence in the record from which the jury could, as it did, conclude that all of the pain, inconvenience, suffering and disability which Mrs. Paul suffered after the accident and up to and beyond the date of the trial resulted from the accident for which the Appellant acknowledged liability. In fact the Appellant does not contend in this court that the evidence did not support the verdict, but only that damages were excessive. Appellant's own expert, Dr. Jones, concluded that she was totally disabled as a result of the accident for nine weeks thereafter. (R. 393). Mrs. Paul obviously suffered excruciating agony for two months after her accident and then although the severe pain subsided somewhat and was somewhat quiescent during July, her condition became increasingly worse from August until the time of her operation. After this very necessary operation she again was totally disabled for a period of months and again suffered excruciating agony to the extent that she became terribly nervous. She was totally disabled until March of 1952 and is still partially disabled and very apparently will be dis-

abled for a long time into the future. She is still suffering pain and misery as the result of the accident. Everybody is agreed that she really suffered very severe pain and that her condition was unendurable before the operation. Everybody is agreed that the operation is a dangerous one, characterized as "major," and causing great suffering.

Mrs. Paul certainly used due diligence and care in obtaining and selecting doctors and she cooperated in all of the treatment which was prescribed for her. During the trial the Appellant seemed to be striving for proof that the operation from which additional suffering proceeded was not made necessary by the accident and that Dr. Graham, who prescribed and performed it, had made an error in judgment, but his own experts refuse to back him up in that. Moreover, whether the operation was actually necessary or not is immaterial so long as the Respondent exercised due care in the selection of her doctors. It is not here contended that she did not use such care. This is the law in the State of California, which is controlling on this problem of substantive right. See

Ash vs. Mortenson,
24 Cal. 2nd 654, 657;
150 Pac. 2nd 876.

We believe it to be equally the law in Utah.

Moreover, on this last point the court in its Instruction No. 13 charged the jury that if Mrs. Paul has used

reasonable diligence in securing the services of a competent medical doctor, given the doctor all clinical history of herself that is material and submits to his examination and follows the treatments prescribed, she cannot be charged with the negligence, poor judgment or malpractice, if any, of her doctor. (T. 421). Inasmuch as this statement of the law by the Trial Court to the jury is not attacked in this court it has become the law of the case and is binding upon the Appellant. The jury's implied finding that Mrs. Paul did exercise due care in selecting her doctors is amply supported by the evidence.

The Courts of California have in many cases held that under comparable circumstances similar awards are not excessive. See

Thomas vs. Southern Pacific Co.,
116 C.A. 126; 2 Pac. 2nd 544;

Perry vs. McLaughlin,
212 Cal. 1; 297 Pac. 554;

Sundberg vs. Ringel,
100 C.A. 545; 280 Pac. 557;

McNown vs. Pacific Freight Lines,
50 C.A. 2nd 221; 122 Pac. 2nd 582;

Lovelandy vs. Sacramento City Lines,
102 C.A. 2nd 28; 226 Pac. 2nd 722;

Perry vs. City of San Diego,
80 C.A. 2nd 166; 181 Pac. 2nd 98;

Roedder vs. Lindsley,
28 Cal. 2nd 820; 822-823; 172 Pac. 2nd 353;

Brinck vs. Bradbury,
179 Cal. 376; 176 Pac. 690;

Lynch vs. Southern Pacific Co.,
24 C.A. 108; 140 Pac. 298;

Hamelin vs. Foulkes,
105 C.A. 458; 287 Pac. 526;

Pearson vs. Whitworth,
75 C.A. 2nd 751; 171 Pac. 2nd 745;

Reilly vs. California Street Cable R.R. Co.,
76 C.A. 2nd 620; 173 Pac. 2nd 872;

Werkman vs. Howard Zink Corp.,
97 C.A. 2nd 418; 218 Pac. 2nd 43.

The jury who saw Mrs. Paul through four long days of trial and saw her obviously good faith efforts to conceal rather than exaggerate her disability as she moved about the court room, and who personally observed her demeanor and that of her husband in describing her injuries and disabilities and the pain she suffered, are certainly best qualified to measure the extent of her past and probable future damages resulting from the accident. Certainly this court from a cold record should not try to say that \$11,800 was so grossly and manifestly excessive as to shock the conscience and clearly indicate passion and prejudice. In this case no one has even contended that Mrs. Paul's agony or disability

were not real, and surely no one can in good conscience say that, for this agony and this severe disability of her back which destroys all certainty and stability and ease of movement, the sum awarded her for past and future pain, suffering, anxiety, mental anguish, inconvenience and physical disability was at all excessive, especially in view of the present inflated value of the dollar. Who would say that this verdict even fairly compensated her for her injuries and suffering? If so, that one for some additional sum should fairly be willing to undergo similar injuries, suffering and disability for \$12,000,000 for that would mean a \$200.00 profit on the transaction. Manifestly no one whether a reasonable prudent man or an unreasonable or imprudent man, would do that.

Actually this verdict, if the jury erred at all, was too modest, for the evidence would have justified a much larger verdict.

In this connection it may be properly noted that under the law the present diminished purchasing power of the dollar may be considered when estimating damages. See

Duffy vs. Union Pacific
Railroad Company, *supra*,

and

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